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A Hlstory of Tumarnuel Evangelical Lutheran Congregatj@n
Black Creek, Wisconsin

During the summer of 1901 Rev, G, Schoewe, of the Town of Cénterﬁ éama
to Blackaraek and gathered together a few Lutheran people and preached to .
them 1n small groups., This was a disiance of approximately 10 miles. After
a Tew months these people wers ready>t@ organize thelir own @ongfegatiang A
constltution was drawn up by pastor Schoewep and on August 5, 1901, this was
gigned by the following charter memberss Alhert Rau, August Rahn, Herman
ﬁahn, Julius Hobemeister, Martin Winter, William'ﬂissiingg'William Genskag
Edward Missling, and Julius Barihalg In their first business meeting
'Wllliam.ﬁissiing was elected presidents Albert Rau, secrestary; end Wiiliam
Genske, treasurer. The congregation was at once lnc@rporate@ ﬂnder the
pame of the Immanuel Ev, Lutheran Church, under the laws granted to corpo-
-rations by’chépter B5, staﬁﬁgs of Wisconsin. The incorporation papers:
were recorded at the Register'©f Deeds office at Applethg'wisc@nsinﬂ ﬁn
September 17, 1961@

Since Rev. Schoewe was already serving the St. Paul’s Lutheran con=
grégatlon at Binghamton and the St. Peter’s congregation about four miles
Sautheast of Blaek Creek, he could not adequ&telv serve the newly @fganize&
Inmanuel congregation. The msmbgrs therefore asked Rev, Hasso, of Freedom,
to serve them in addition to his own charge, Freedom was located abcut 1%
miles southeast of Black Creek. Né matter, Rev, Haese bepan serving them -
the early part of October, holding services in the Good Templar®s ha11@
(ThiS building was part of the G&mbia store on Main Street., Last sumer
the Gaﬁb1® gtore moved into ﬂaﬂfquarterﬁ south of Black Creek. A%t that
tims it was located across the street from the‘Methodisﬁ shurcha ) |

In ﬁrdef to provide guarters for their pastor when he was in Black

Cresk te serve them, the cengregation rented the upper rooms of Fred
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Woehlert®s home for $1.00 a month. Fra&‘Waehlerﬁ and his fawlly were ﬁh@n
accepted as mewbers of the church, .

Now numbering eleven familiss this n@W'gﬁﬁup of Lutherans sought te
acquire their own chureh home, In thelr November meeting it waé decided to
buy ihe old Catholic church property for $1,000,00, This includé& the church
building, a frame struc@ureg the organs, altar, pews, barn, and lots nﬁmbers
Q end 10, FEleven members d@n@te& $365.00, a goodly sum in those timaé:
:when‘a dollar was worth a dellar, With this amount, & down payment W&é made
tawa?d the buying of the church property. | \

. The history of the Immanuel congregation is @ioseiy’b@und £©gether
with the affairs of the.St@ Petéfgs congregation, S@&Eﬁ@&Sﬁ of Black Cfeak,
and the St, Paul’s congregation at Binghamton. These two @cngregations
- wers too small to have their own pastor, seo they were served by Rev, Schoews,
from the Town of Center{today 1ﬁea£ed halfway'ﬁetween Black Creek and
Appleton, Wiseonsin).

On May 4, 1902, the members of these three congregations met in the St.

Pater“é ehurch to form a new parish, f@rvtha'purp@se of ealling a pastor te
serve the thres congregations. Desiring to have their own pastor made it
necessary for this group to provide a parsonage. This was the first uﬁderw ‘
taking cf?ﬁéwly orgenized parish. On July 27th, the parseonage building com-
mittee was chosen and consisted of five men(one from St, Peter’s church.and
two from the two other congregations). Thé parsonage was then erected on
the property of the Tmmanuel congregation in Black Cre@k; When the buildm.
" dng was @@mplatédg thers was enough money on han& to cover all but‘$HOOmDO
of the cost, The Pérish minutes sﬁateg "Phis money was gathére& antirely
by free will offerings made by all the menrriimrs.z‘;ﬂ

The parish ealled a Seminary graduate, Gerhard Himnenthal, ﬁ@‘be its

first pastor. Rev, Hinnenthal accepted the call, and was ordsined and



installed on March i5, 1903,

In order to have s common meeting place for the instrueting of fhe
children9 it was necessary“to hava a school building@ On Mayi29, 190&, the
parish held a meeting to solve this problem. They’daéided t@:buy the old
Methédist church for 5‘5250@@0.D It is a thrill to read of vage 12 of the
parigh record; "And so, trusting in God for the free will offerings entirely,
we go forward with the building of our schaai@“ The moving, the foundation,
and the remodeling of the school house were done af a cost of $199.00(The
building was sold in 1951 for $500,00), The free will @fferiﬁg of theimemm
bers amounted to more than enough te pay for the schaols and with $150 00
1eft overD a furnace was installed in the parsenage.

During the first years of the existence of the par:.shS the'Wisconsin
Synod subsidized the pastor's salary. In the meeting of the parish; held
May 7, 1905, the members voted to go self-supporting, énd to sincerely
;thank the Wisconsin Synod for the subsidy it had granted to them,

' ) In the fall of this yé;P, RQV@ Hinnenthal, because of illness, was
granted a leave of absence for one year, with pay. The parish engaged
‘Reinhéld Hinnenthal, a Seminary student, for the instructing of the chil-
dréﬁg'and asked a brother, W, Hinnenthal, of Kaukauna, to pfovids themjwit@
preachers., Again, the fathers of this @ongregétion relied on thé free will
offerings of the members to meet this special need. |

In 190?’D when the parish was five years old, it comprised sixty«twa
'famiiiesp made,upias followss nine from St, gaulﬁs, twenty~-two from
Trmarnuel, and thitﬁyhona from Stg Peter’s,

About & year after Rev, Hinnenthal again resumed his pastoral work,
he received a call to sefva a congregation in Goodhue, Minnesota, On ]
October i1, 1908, he was granted his relea e so that he might serve the

Lord in this other fieldg That same vear a wmll was extended to Rev, A, F.
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Herzfeldt, of Eagle River, He accepted %hé call to serve the Black Craék
parish, and was installed the fourth Sunday in Advent, December 20, 1908,

According to the suggestion of a member of the congregation, the
Immanﬁel congregation was ¢anvas$ed for donations fqr a bell, This met with
favorable results becaﬁse in the annual meetiﬁg of 1910; the congregation
choseito purchase an 800 pound bell.

Tn 1911, when the congregation was ten . years old, the menbership had
grown‘to thirty~five families, As the years went on, the English‘language
became more common among the early members, so beginning in March, 1914,
one Ehglish service a month was held,

bn Décember 27, 1914, disaster struck the Immanuel congregation, for
on that cold Sunday night, thir house of worship was destroyed by fire; In
the next meeting of the congregation held January 5, 1915, a building éomm
mittee waé chosen to plan the erection of a new church., In a March megting,
the Irmanuel congregation accepted the plan submitted by contractor |
Schoenrock ahd Sons. The members of the congregation were to dig out the
cellar and supply all the materisl for the building of the foundation, The
members did all this work, donating their labor., The new church was finished
by thé end of Octoﬁer, and dedicéted on November 7, 1915, on one of thé most
beautiful fall days of the year. The cost of the church was $7,500.00;

During the fall of 1920, an invitation was extended to the member$ of
St. Paul®s congregation at Binghamton to join the Black Creek church. wThis‘
invitation, however, was not immediately accepted. During the year ofi1922
the éntire congregation of St., Peter 6ftened worshipped together with the
Tmmanuel congregation, By the end of the year the St., Peter's congregation
formally’joined’with the church in Black Creek. _ ‘

Again, sickness struck the shepherd of the Black Creek parish; Rev, '

Herzfeldtg who had been ailing for some time, was granted a year‘s leave
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of absence in the summer of 1923, In his absence services were condugted
. by Rev, Steertz, whp was then the pastor of the:Wisconsin Synod church in
Shioeton which was located six miles west of Black Creek. In January, 1924,
the Immanuel congregation again invited the members of St, Paul®s to join
with them, This time the invitation was seriocusly consideredg hecause of
the sicknesé of the pastor. By that fall all the mewbers of-thé Binghamton
church joined together inte one congregation at Black Creek, Now the #hree
churches of the original parish were joined topether inte one congregation
at Black Creek, |

- In 1926 the Immanuel congregation celebrated its twenty-fifth anniver-
sary, on October 3ist, Rev, Benjamin Schlueter, the district presideﬁt, was
the guést speaker for this occasion. On this festival‘dayy the ladies of
the congregation provided dimner and supper for the guests, The joy of the
twenty-fifth anniversary had mihgled iﬁ it a note of grief, for also on this
day the confreflation grented a peaceful reiease to Rev, Herzfeldt, whé had
served it faithfully for ninetéen years. The call wgé extended to Reﬁ,
John Masch, who was serving at Sault Ste, Marie, Michigan. He accepted
the call, and was installed on January:9th, 1927 .

The Ladies® Aid of the congregation, which was organized in February,
1911, did much in being an aid to the work_bf the churchgv Again an& again
the members of the congregation‘votéd a hearty thanks for all that the ladies
did in the ehureh, in the parsohagev and in the schoeol,

Beginning in 1937’ie English services were held every other Sunday, All
other services were conducted in German, The church was redecorated in 1938,
lIn'1939 the German services were cut down to one a month, This arrangement
for German and English services remained in effect until the summer of 1945,
when it was decided to discontinue German services altogefher, exéept for

Commnion.
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During the summer of 1946, Rev. Masch, whe bad been ssr@iﬂg the @@ﬁgram
gation sinee 1927, suffered a heart attack, and was unable to carry on his
work, Neighboring pastors conducted serviees during the pastor®s illness,
Tt was God’s will that He call His faithful servant, Rev., Maseh, to His
eternal rest, so he died Sunday evening, September 29, 1046, | .

To £31) the vacancy in the Black Creak pasgtorate, a call was extended
to Rev, Frederick Thierfelder, of Dundas, Wisconsin. Rev, Thierfelder ;
accepted the call, and was installed on January 12, 1947,

The treaﬁurér‘requ@sted,that s change be made in regard te the fiiing
of phurch dues, The congregation then agreed to a@@epﬁza voluntary contrie
bﬁtién system, providing each communicant with weekly envelopes for local
and synodical purposes,

During the summer @f 1947, it was nati@eﬁthat the sehool was in neea of
repair and that it slso needed & mew hesting unit. After @@nsidering this
problem, the congregation deeided to install & new furnace in the churéh@
and remodel the church basemeﬁtﬂv This project was @ompleted.dﬁring the sume
mer of 1948, After this was finiéhe&, confirmation classes were held in
the church basement, and the school houss could then be disposed of, |

For a few years the congregation was @Qnsiderihg the a&visabilitylaf
remodeling the parsonage, or of building & new one. In every case it %&S
decided that building & new dwelling would be more preetiecal than remodeling
the ¢ld one, This was done during the summef df 1949, The old parsonage
was sold for $293009002 and moved away, The new parsonage was then built
on the same location, -Whilaviha parsonage was being tuilt, Rév@ and Mrs.
Thierfelder made their guarters in the school house, which was still in the
possession of the congregation. The new parsonage is & nine room brick homs,
built at the cost of $19,709.13, This ineluded the work dene on the g&ragéa

Tn 1951 the fiftieth aniversary of the congregation was celebrated,
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The interi@r of the church was again refurbished, WNew furnishings include&
new runners an& earpefingp an& 8 comminion rail was also supplieag All
these things were given as a donation by a late wevber of the congregation,
The entirs cost of the renovating was taken care bf by his baqﬁeéﬁ to ‘the
congrégatiena Duriﬁg the closing yvears of his 1ife@.h@ had & great concemn
for ﬁha church, This prompted him te make Imﬁanuel congregation the benew
ficiary of & $5,000,00 1ife insurance poliey. The congregation then nume
bered 462 souls, 316 communieants with 9% enrolled in Sunday sehé@lg 3

In sarly 1956 Rev, Thierfelder was granted a peaceful raelesass te éervs
RivervieW'chﬁrch in Appleﬁéng‘Wiscensing Rev, Arden Wood was called from .
the ﬁwilderness of South Dakota” te serve the congregation in Rlack Créek@
ﬁé accepted the call and was ordained on Janvary 29, 1956, Hs @urreniiy
serves the congregation in Black Creek. |

Keeping in mind thervalué of Christian education, Immanuel congregation
joined the Fox Valley lutheran High School association along ﬁith twelve
other congregations, They were responsible for the pperating and finaﬁcial
support of Fax Valley Lutheran ﬁigh School, a newly sstablished high school
in Appleton. During this yeafg 1957, vacation Bible school was alsc stérte&
at Tmmanuel congregation with a total 6f 96 students, ‘

The cangr@ggtion gontinued to grﬁwgv It g§BW'®nough to zause @oneérn
for everything being done “decently and in order.” Therefore in 1964 the
Ushers Club was formed, A& year later, 1965, was another banner year, It
was the fiftieth anniverséry af thévchurch building erscted in 1915 which
was still being used, The speecial event was observed on September 19th,
1965 statisties ineluded 656 souls, 427 @@mmuﬁi@antsp.18i in Sunday school,
and 125 in vacation Bible scheol,

4s the church grew, zo did the awareness of the lack of faeilifies

for such & multitude of psople. The church piaﬁning committes members
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were elected to act as the building committee members in 1966, They under-
took their task with the zeal and earnestness #f the hard working men that
they’werew Plang were submitted and ecarefully serutinized. The wheels of
the éongregation were in motion, Ten acres of land were purchased on fha
southeast side.of Black:Creek:in 1967 for $2,000,00 per acre, Ground-
:breaking ceremonies wers held on October 13, 1968, Less than & year later
the congregation participated in the laying of the cormerst@né on Jun6;29th,

People’s faces wers aglow with enthusiasm as they sagerly looked form
ward to worshipping in thﬁr new building dedicated to God, They were éble
to do this in one of four dediecation services held on June 28, 1970. Guest
preachers included former Rev, Thiérfelder(SzCO and 10:30 a,m.)}, Rev, Es
Stelter(3:00 p.m.),; and RevsAT@ Baganz(7:30 p.m.). After the dedication,
members realized that their task was cut out for them. The total project
cost ran in excess of $250,000,00, |

God wofks in mysterious ways, A member of Immanuel congregation éied
shortly dfter the church was finally settled inte as a house of worshiﬁe
This mén was not weiléiiked by many in the community as he was considered.a
“miéerly‘and cantankerous old fellow,” For a small town, population still
not above 1,QOQ§ hé had amassed a great fortune worth almost $500,000.00%
| Providing only far the continued support of his widow, he gave all the rest
of his ﬁoney‘ta charities so thatbreiatives would not have te fight oﬁar it,
The Lord moved this man‘s heart to make Tmmanuel congregation a‘benefiqiary
of money to the tune of $100,000.Oda (Other churehésp of which_he had once
been s member, got far lesser amounts, One chureh in town didn't receivs |
any benefits. This enraged the pastor of that church so mich that he begén_
to rant and rave agéinst the other churches in the small community of Black
Creek, . He did this éé‘much,so that his econgregation was finaliy forced to

compel him to leavel ),
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The congregation, with the town, is still continuing to grow. The
church, once standing prominently alone, dis now surrounded by'new hones.
As the church grows, so do the programs, Ta 1971 Lutheran Girl Pioneers
was organizedg followed shorfly’by'Lutheran Boy Pioneers in 1973. The.
800 pound bell bought for the old church in 1910 was electrified and made
a pa?t of the new church in 1972, Speaking of the old echurch, it still -

stands today next to the parsonagea It was sold to an interestedvparty
from Chicago who colledts pipe organs, He uses it mainly for storage ut
every so often one can hear a strain of a familiar tune ﬁoming from the “old .
Lutheran church.”

Tmmanmiel congregation's new house of God, though stﬁlllcriti¢a11y.exam
mined by the casual passerby as to the style of architecture(ef. picture),
hés ample facilities, In 1973 it became the first place that Wisconsin
Lutheran Child & Family Services est#blished as a base outside of Mil~
waukee, This led to theifurther establishment WICFS offices in other parts
of Wisconsin, Immaruel congregation is presently the base for two expert
persommel of WLCFS. ,

On Jul& 29, 1976, the congregation iearned that former pastor Frederick
Thierfélder was called to his Savior s side, By this time all additions
and finishing touches had been added and completed in connection with the
church and the church préperty@ The parking lot was paved and the entire
church was carpeted in anticipation of the congregation's 75th anniversary.
The congregation was led in worship by the present pastor Arden'Woad and
edified by the sermon of guest preacher Clarence Koepsell of Oshkosh, Wi.
The beauty of the anniversary'and.celebration was furthered enhanced by the
participation of the Fox Valley Lutheran high échool choir, The 75th anhi-
versary found Immamuel congregation with 855 souls, 619 communicahts, 173 in

Sunday school, and 114 in vacation Bible school, .
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The statistics fér Tomaruel coﬁgregaﬁian are faseinating espaeiallf
in connection with Sunday school attendance and vacation Bible school,.
After thévinitiai enrollment of 96 in 1957‘th@ VBS has had s constant
enroliment averaging 125 students,

Bunday School Attendance

Wi

195
190
185
180
175
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160
155
150
145

N

135 WV '
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79
’ YEARS(19 prefix)
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But that is where the statistics stope No Christian day school has been
started,’ :

Certainly it can bé seen as a deficiﬁ‘in an otherwise suitable siﬁum
ation., The "blaﬁe"'is not to be place%@n the congregation or pastor, per
se. The circumétances cause one to reflect more closely at the situation.
and envirans feasible for starting and maintaining a CDSNY The church is
definitely suited for the establishment of a CDS, The basement contains
four individual, furnished rooms capable of teaching purposes,

Why no Chriétién day school? Perhaps it would be better to ask if it
is necessary for every Wisconsin Synod chureh to have a CDS? For Immanuel
~ congregation the answef would presently seem to be no(Eut hépefully yes in
the future). Immanuel is located in a small town, population less than
1,000, The public schodl-system is ecarefully scrutinized bthhe pupils*®
éoncerned parents and therefore the result is a-quality education'though‘

it may not by strictly orthodox ILutheranism. The Black Creek public grade
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schooliis 8 finegAnewvf@ciliﬁy*with Tary qﬁalifiedAta&@hérS@ Tﬁé gmalle
ness of th@.coﬁmnﬁiﬁv doesn’t allow for & practicing atheist to be &

school teacher in this "elosed” sysﬁemg In faet, ﬁh@ prineipal and the

the eighth}grad@ male teachsr are pillar mémbers of Tmmanual congregation,
They also ars the twe teachers responsible for the running and wéilmbsing
of the public grade school system, By law, public teachers aven*t allowed
to teach religion but & definite "Christian afm@sphare“ doss prevail in the
publi@ seh@@i system of Black Creek,

When a letter was sent to the congrepation of Twmanuel concerning fhé
establishing of a Christian day school, the reactions were somewhat unfae
vorable, "Why do. we need a CDS when we already have & good publie grade
sehoolf" ?How can we afford é CDS when we can hardly'megﬁ the monthly ?
notes and utility bills for the new church?” These comments were heard
from a formeyr president of the church eouneil; but camnot be taken ag against
Christian education, A1l of his children attended Fox Valley Lutheran high
school in Appleton, The reactions to the letter seem@d to indicate an |
everall sconomic concern., The congregation had extended themselvas in
providing a naw house of worship and felt they eould do no more. They only
need to look at ihéir past history for encouragement. The congreg&tian;
often was run by free will offerings durimg %imes of hardship and advere
si%ym‘ (Statistics alse collaborate iﬁ revealing that average commmnicant
menmber giving was and is above the average communicant mewber giving for
the Northern W&Séonsin Disﬁficta) Even though worried about money, the
past bistory of Immanuel congfegation shows that finsncial difficulties
wore always @vefcoma and not reslly that much of & SONEeIn,
| Trmanuel congregation cannot presently be faulted. The spirit of
éhristian aducation Onée was prevalent in thelr @arly*his%@ry(anethér

lesson the congregation might learn from their forefathers). By ridding
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rthemselves of the sechool whieh they onee had, they perhaps lost some of
.fhe zeal and intensiﬁy’which they‘had for the instrueting &f their chile
areﬂ@ Invloaking at statisties, @ﬁ@é again, another subliminal reason
could be the cause for the mégls@t of a‘ChriSﬁian day school, BEarly sta~

tistics inelude the number of subsecribers te Geﬁéiﬁd@ Blatt and the North~

western Lutheran, Con@erning this faet, Immamuel congregation had no

menbers of tha econgregation as suberibers to thess publications(which is
still é plaring fault of this congregation as well as many @th@rs throughe
out the Synodi ). The value of a CDS was not not constantly kgpt before thé
meribers of Immanuei congregation, |

All is not lost though, Immaﬁuel_@@ngregati@n still has an active conw
cern for Christian education. As was previcusly stated, Immanuel @ongfegam
tion joined the federation |fd churches in 1957 for sentinued support of
Fox Valley Lutheran high Séh@él@ This was & vig step for an “outlying®
~congregation 15 miles te the north of Appleton, ﬁh@n.ﬁppiet@n‘@cul& be
eomsidered th@Acentér of Wisconsin Synod Lutheranism in the Fox River
Valley area. In recent years, other positive steps have been taken con-
cerning Christian-edueati@n@ The Pioneer programs are & step in the direcw
tion of once more putting Christian education before the congregation via
means of the fledgling steps of Christian fellowship.

~ Even though the Sunday school and the vacation Bible schoel are well
atténded and staffed, the née& for a Christian day school doesn®t seem as
'demanding in Immanuel congregation. 7The detrimént is seen in the nﬁmber of
song of the congregation who have entered tﬁ@ full time preaching and teache
ing miniétery@ The rmmber is a definiﬁely'émail six considering the @hufch
will soon be eighty years old. Bub after careful refluction, the auther of
this paper finds little. hope(or feasability) in the @stablishment-of a

Chrigtisn day sechool in the near.faiura of Tmmaruel econgregation sspecially
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in view of the eircumstances and environment. One can only commend the

congregation for its early beginnings of Christian eduecation, though not

_ pontinued, and.its ﬁholehearted support for centinued Christian education.
vThe latest St&tisica1~information(iQ?Q) sh@wq@hat Tmmarel @ongregam

tion numbers 884 souls, 640 communicants, 179 in Sunday schoeol(with 23

teachers), and 122 in vacation Bible school,
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